
        
            
                
            
        


		
			Advance Praise for The Fall of the FBI

			 

			“An interesting and insightful look into the FBI. This book will give the reader a better understanding of the inner workings of the FBI and integrity of some Agents and the lack of it in other Agents. A very powerful read.”

			—Joe Pistone, former FBI agent, author of Donnie Brasco: My Undercover Life in the Mafia

			“Tom Baker, a retired FBI agent who enjoyed a wide-ranging and successful career, describes the chaos that led to the decline of the FBI in recent years. The Fall of the FBI is both entertaining and informative and centers on the turmoil that has engulfed the FBI. Baker sheds light on Director Bob Mueller’s disastrous culture change and Director Jim Comey’s failed leadership in the Russia Collusion case.” 

			—Joe Wolfinger, former FBI Assistant Director, author of Rico: How Politicians, Prosecutors, and the Mob Destroyed one of the FBI’s Finest Special Agents

			“Tom Baker is a legend in the FBI: the first agent on the scene of the Reagan assassination attempt, wizened veteran of hundreds of other criminal cases, large and small. When he writes on the calling and compromise of the FBI’s institutional culture, as in his frequent commentary for the Wall Street Journal and here, in The Fall of the FBI, Baker commands unrivaled authority—and the undistracted attention of all patriots who care whether the United States remains a nation of laws.”

			—James Rosen, chief White House correspondent for Newsmax, author of The Strong Man: John Mitchell and the Secrets of Watergate 

			“Thomas J. Baker’s more than three decades of distinguished service in the FBI validates his participation in major historic events and views of a declining Bureau. A thousand former FBI Agents wish they had the courage displayed by Tom in writing The Fall of the FBI. He reveals not only one or two former Bureau bad apples but his writing skill has the reader nearly smelling the stench of an entire orchard rotting in decay. A deeply researched serious work of nonfiction, it is a must read for all concerned with preserving our democracy.”

			—Paul Letersky, former FBI Special Agent, author of The Director: My Years Assisting J. Edgar Hoover

			“The failures and political corruption of the FBI have become undeniable in recent years. The incredible insight from Thomas Baker’s thirty-three-year career at the Bureau and his eye-opening reporting make The Fall of the FBI a book only he could have written, and it’s essential reading for the rest of us who want to know what went wrong and wonder if the FBI can be saved.”

			—Mollie Hemingway, Editor in Chief of The Federalist, author of Justice on Trial: The Kavanaugh Confirmation and the Future of the Supreme Court

			“Baker’s must-read book is both timely and critical for the turbulent times in which we live. A touchstone for FBI historians and law enforcement organizations alike, The Fall of the FBI is essential reading and should be considered one of the most powerful and thought-provoking FBI books ever written!”

			—Kenneth Strange Jr., former FBI and DOJ Special Agent in Charge, author of A Cop’s Son: One G-Man’s Fight Against Jihad, Global Fraud, and the Cartels

			“Tom Baker’s book is a must-read for those desiring to witness firsthand the career of a legendary FBI agent, as he brings the reader along from his days at the FBI Academy and beyond: kidnappings, airplane hijackings, espionage…even the attempted assassination of a sitting president. The author then tackles the thorny issues plaguing the FBI today, recognizing his beloved Bureau is ‘drifting away from its law enforcement moorings.’ Tom Baker’s stories are compelling, his insight is enlightening, and his conclusions are cogent.”

			—Greg Dillon, former FBI agent, author of The Thin Blue Lie: An Honest Cop vs. The FBI

			“For those of us who grew up admiring the FBI and were shocked by the agency’s behavior in the Russia Hoax, this is the book to read. Thomas Baker, a retired FBI official, tells us why this happened, how an American legend was gradually unraveled by incompetent management, dishonesty, and loss of, well, decency itself. Mr. Baker grew up in the agency, and in the old style rose to the management level, only to see his and his colleagues’ work devalued by the likes of James Comey and his coterie. Now we have an FBI that spies on Americans. It’s time for Congress to investigate and return the FBI to its former level of respect.”  

			—Peter J. Wallison, former White House Counsel, author Ronald Reagan: The Power of Conviction and the Success of His Presidency 

			“There are a million stories in the life of an FBI Agent. Some can be, some should be, and others the FBI hopes are never told. Tom Baker, in his compelling book, The Fall of the FBI takes the reader through highlights of his remarkable career and offers an insight to what the FBI has meant to America. He also tells the story of other, more recent incidents, that do not reflect what the FBI has been. He offers suggestions on what must be done to restore this storied institution back to where it should be to protect, not sully, our nation.”

			—Richard A. Marquise, former FBI Special-Agent-in-Charge, author of Scotbom: Evidence and the Lockerbie Investigation. 

			“The FBI was the world’s greatest law-enforcement agency. To get back to being great, it has to get back to being a law-enforcement agency: criminal investigators nonpareil, committed to the Constitution’s guardrails, not wannabe spies scheming to circumvent them. That is Thomas J. Baker’s cri de cœur, compellingly delivered with the strength of more than three decades as an agent, from the trenches to the heights of what the Bureau does best: fight crime. That sound you hear is those of us who love the FBI—what it was and what it still can be—cheering.

			—Andrew C. McCarthy, former federal prosecutor, New York Times bestselling author of Ball of Collusion: The Plot to Rig an Election and Destroy a Presidency.

			“Tom Baker clearly understands the importance of an independent and objective federal law-enforcement authority. In this memoir, he expresses his concerns for the organization in which he served for more than three decades, and for which he clearly feels deep affection. His experience bridges the Hoover era with the post-Comey Bureau, providing a unique perspective. A cautionary tale told with humor and insight.”

			—Marc Ruskin, former Brooklyn assistant district attorney, legislative aide to U. S. Senator Daniel Patrick Moynihan, adjunct professor at the John Jay College of Criminal Justice, author The Pretender, My Life Undercover for the FBI

			“As I read this wonderful and entertaining book, all I could think to say was... ‘well, this is certainly long overdue.’ It’s about time that someone with Tom Baker’s vast experience, skills, and integrity presented a close-up insider’s view of the world’s greatest investigative organization. Baker shows us, especially through all of the high profile cases, why the Bureau has enjoyed so many decades of respect and admiration; and yet only to see it descend in recent years into political intrigue and demoralization. This book should not only give insight, pride and hope to every rank and file agent in the field, but more importantly, to every American who still loves what the FBI stands for: Fidelity, Bravery, and Integrity.”

			—John F Picciano, former FBI agent and New York trial attorney, author of Liam’s Promise, a work of historical fiction about the TWA Flight 800 crash off Long Island in July 1996

			“Tom Baker draws on his years of experience within the Bureau to present a superb examination of America’s foremost law enforcement agency. From his amazing first-hand knowledge of historic cases like the Reagan assassination attempt and the death of Princess Diana to his insightful views on how to remedy the recent shortcomings of the agency that he so loves, I found The Fall of the FBI to be an informative and thought-provoking read.” 

			—Philip Jett, author of The Death of an Heir and Taking Mr. Exxon: The Kidnapping of an Oil Giant’s President

			“Tom Baker, citing the total lack of character apparent in some of the FBI’s most recent so-called leaders, raises the question as to whether we are treating the symptom (getting rid of a few bad apples) and ignoring the problem (the changing FBI culture). Sharing thirty-three years of FBI experiences during his illustrious career, Tom provides keen insight into a leader’s most important responsibility—culture management.

			—Richard M. Ayres, former FBI agent, former Executive Director of the FBI National Executive Institute Associates, author of Leading to Make a Difference: Ethical, Character Driven Law Enforcement
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			“We must do the work the American people expect of us, in the way the Constitution demands of us.”

			 

			Judge William H. Webster

			FBI director 1978–1987
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			Thomas Dineen, my maternal grandfather, was a police officer in the city of Brooklyn, when it was its own city. His oldest son, Frank, was a NYPD officer and then an investigator in the Army’s CID during World War II. His other son, Bill, was a detective with the NY Central Railroad Police and then a NYPD officer. The stories of my uncles’ adventures fueled my passion for law enforcement.





Author’s Note

			After hearing one of my FBI adventures, some have suggested, “You ought to write a book.” Perhaps, but the question remains: Why this book?

			Over the past few years, I became concerned about abuses by our FBI. Abuses caused by a change in culture or poor leadership. In trying to find the answer to “what went wrong” I turned to Yuval Levin’s A Time to Build. His analysis of the failure of institutions today, in some respects, answered the question.

			His work provided another insight: We are formed by our institutions. Reflecting on what Levin wrote, I realized his analysis was true in my case. Family, church, and school formed my character and beliefs. Like thousands of others, I took that formation with me into the FBI, where I continued to be formed.

			Everybody starts out in life, particularly in our professional lives, with some preconceived ideas. Some of these ideas change as we grow and evolve; some never change. Some are ideals we hold onto to guide us; some are lost to disillusioning experiences along the way.

			My maternal grandfather was a policeman in Brooklyn, New York, when it was its own city. His sons—my uncles—were police officers in New York City. As a youth, I heard their stories and shared their pride in bringing the “bad guys” to justice. I had a positive view of the justice system. A naively idealist view, some might say. In my thirty-three-year FBI career, and in my continued association with the criminal justice system since, I have come to the realization that justice is far from perfect.

			This book is divided into three parts. First, the adventures, which I hope you will find as entertaining as I found my uncles’ stories. Second, the injustices I have witnessed in the FBI and in life. The third part covers recent dysfunctions of our FBI, with possible solutions. In other words, the good, the bad, and the ugly.

			In working through the FBI’s fall, I had the opportunity to pen several opinion pieces for The Wall Street Journal and other publications. The bulk of Part III is based on those opinion pieces.

			Still, despite the ugliness and injustice that surrounds us today, I remain an optimist. It is always, as Ronald Reagan put it, “Morning in America.”





Introduction

			Americans have lost faith in the Federal Bureau of Investigation, an institution they once regarded as the world’s greatest law enforcement agency. I spent many years with the FBI, and am deeply troubled by this loss of faith. Specific lapses have come to light, and each is thoroughly discussed in this book. But why did they happen? What changed? The answer begins days after the 9/11 attacks with a cultural change at the Bureau.

			Culture is the issue. The Department of Justice Inspector General’s reports damningly document a pattern of deliberate omissions, misstatements, and outright falsifications in material presented to the United States Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Court (the FISC) by three different investigative teams. This widespread behavior describes a culture–not just the work of a “few bad apples.” In what is certainly an understatement, the Inspector General (IG) concluded the Bureau’s actions “fell short of what is rightfully expected from a premier law enforcement agency.” That may be because they were acting and thinking as an intelligence agency, rather than a law enforcement agency.

			To understand how far the Bureau has fallen, I show in these pages the good–albeit sometimes imperfect–role played by the FBI and FBI agents in past decades. It was quite often, as I hope you will see from my firsthand experiences, a fun-filled adventure. While at the same time, the reader will also see the reverence the Bureau had for the Constitution and the concern agents held for the rights of Americans. It was once the norm.





Prologue

			Camp David, Maryland,

			September 15, 2001

			Three and a half days after the attacks of September 11, 2001, Robert Swan Mueller III, newly appointed director of the FBI, was summoned to the presidential retreat in the wooded Catoctin Mountains of Maryland. Mueller had held the job for a little more than a week.

			He was at Camp David that Saturday morning to give President Bush the FBI’s report on the attacks. The investigation—codenamed “PENTTBOM”—would become the largest one ever conducted by the Bureau. In just three and a half days it had already identified the nineteen hijackers as well as their roles, nationalities, travel documents, and histories. Their Al-Qaeda connections and links to bin Laden were in the Bureau’s crosshairs. Mueller, as he later acknowledged, was confident in the report. The Bureau had done what it does best—investigate.

			President George W. Bush, in a leather bomber jacket, was sitting at the head of a big square conference table in the rustic oak cabin. National Security Advisor Condoleezza Rice was sitting at the president’s right. Other key administration figures, all ruggedly dressed, were scattered around the room. Robert Mueller, in his starched white button-down shirt, confidently briefed the president and his team on the Bureau’s accomplishments.

			Expecting praise or thanks, Mueller was taken aback when the president coldly commented, “I don’t care about that. I just want to know how you’re going to prevent this from happening again.” Later that morning, CIA Director George Tenet presented a proposed plan of action. At the conclusion of Tenet’s presentation, Bush exclaimed, “That’s great!” and turned toward Mueller saying, “That’s what I want to hear.” Mueller was humiliated.

			So, for reasons that seemed justified at the time, Mueller set out to make the FBI an “intelligence-driven” organization. Unintended consequences followed. The organization I had served for the proceeding thirty-three years would undergo a cultural change during the Mueller/Comey years, culminating in the ugly disaster of the Russian collusion investigation, code-named: “Crossfire Hurricane.”





Chapter One

			Rotten Apples or Rotten Culture?

			Fortunately, the principal miscreants of Crossfire Hurricane were cast out of the FBI. James Comey, the former FBI Director who hovered over the mess from its inception in the spring of 2016 until his firing by President Trump on May 9, 2017, was the first to go. Next was FBI Deputy Director Andrew McCabe, then the acting director. He was fired by Attorney General Jeff Sessions on March 17, 2018, after an investigation by the Justice Department’s Inspector General discovered he lied to investigators on four occasions—three of which were under oath. Next, Deputy Assistant Director Peter Strzok, who had initiated the Crossfire Hurricane investigation, was literally shown the door as he was escorted out of the Hoover Building on June 15, 2018 after another IG report. Strzok was finally officially fired on August 10, 2018 by Deputy Director David Bowdich. The dismissed malefactors have all published books, which make no apology for the damage they’ve done to the Bureau and our country.

			This book is a response to their fiction.

			Ridding the Bureau of these rotten apples initially gave many people hope, but now it’s clear their dismissal was not enough. The question remains: How did it happen?

			Senator Marsha Blackburn of Tennessee and Attorney General William Barr engaged in a bit of a colloquy on May 1, 2019, at a hearing of the Senate Judiciary Committee. By then it was apparent that both the FBI’s Russian collusion case and Robert Mueller’s subsequent Special Counsel Inquiry were grievously misconceived. Their dialogue directly concerned the fundamental question, “How did this happen?” And Senator Blackburn concluded it was the result of an “unhealthy work culture” at Bureau headquarters.

			During the summer of 2021, Department of Justice (DOJ) Inspector General (IG) Michael E. Horowitz announced the results of several investigations that blasted the Bureau’s lax culture. Additional reporting only added to this bleak picture.

			On July 1, 2021, a female FBI field supervisor filed a lawsuit in federal district court in Nevada alleging sexual harassment by the Las Vegas Assistant Special Agent in Charge (ASAC), and another supervisory agent. The ASAC had tried to pressure her into a sexual relationship, so she sought help from the office’s employee assistance officer, the other Supervisory Special Agent (SSA). Instead of helping, however, this supervisor sent a photo of a rainbow-colored dildo between his legs to her Bureau-issued cell phone. The suit also set forth numerous vulgar messages from the SSA concerning alcohol abuse, mishandling of weapons, and—like the infamous Peter Strzok/Lisa Page texts—repeated misuse of Bureau-issued cell phones for obscene purposes.

			The female agent in Las Vegas had also reported her concerns to the Bureau’s Equal Employment Office. In light of the SSA’s frequent alcohol abuse, she was particularly concerned that he kept a loaded shotgun near his desk. Her detailed complaint documented the unprofessional atmosphere among management in the Las Vegas office and the continuing cultural rot in the Bureau.

			At 8 a.m. on Sunday morning, July 11, 2021, the official FBI Twitter account (@FBI) posted a tweet that had many former agents shaking their heads and many on Twitter making comparisons to the Stasi and other totalitarian security services. The tweet read: “Family members and peers are often best positioned to witness signs of mobilization to violence. Help prevent homegrown violent extremism. Visit this website to learn how to spot suspicious behaviors and report them.”

			Asking all Americans to report their family members for signs of “suspicious behaviors” is scary stuff. Louis J. Freeh, as FBI Director in a pre-9/11 world, required that all agents in training visit the Holocaust Memorial Museum in Washington, DC. There it is documented what happens when people inform on their neighbors. Freeh wanted new agents to understand the dangers of the police power of the state being turned against its own people.

			Whoever in the FBI sent those tweets had missed that lesson.

			On July 14, 2021, the IG issued a report on the FBI’s mishandling of the allegations against Dr. Lawrence Gerard Nassar, the physician for both US Women’s Gymnastics and Michigan State University’s Gymnastics. He was accused of sexually abusing hundreds of young women and girls. The truly heartbreaking aspect of this report was the Bureau’s lack of care or concern for the victims, which allowed Nasser’s depredations to continue.

			The IG found that the FBI’s Indianapolis office had failed to respond with the urgency the allegations required. They also made fundamental errors when it finally did respond, and failed to notify the appropriate field office (the FBI’s Lansing Michigan Resident Agency, located near the campus of Michigan State University and Nassar’s residence). They also failed to notify state and local authorities. After eight months of inactivity by the Indianapolis office, the FBI’s Los Angeles office received similar information. The IG found the Los Angeles office also failed to take action to notify the appropriate field office or state and local authorities.

			The FBI’s Lansing Michigan Resident Agency only become aware of the allegations about Nassar when Michigan State University Police acted. They’d received similar complaints about Nassar, which led them to search his residence, where they discovered child pornography.

			At this point, over a year had passed since complaints were first made to the FBI, and Nassar had continued to “treat” gymnasts at Michigan State University, a high school in Michigan, and a gymnastics club in Michigan. The Michigan investigation found that Nassar had sexually assaulted hundreds of victims and possessed thousands of items of child pornography.

			He was convicted in both federal and state courts and is currently imprisoned in Florida on a federal sentence of sixty years—the statutory maximum—for child pornography violations. His two state sentences—over a hundred years each—for child abuse are to be served consecutively.

			A de facto life sentence.

			In the IG’s review of the FBI’s handling of the Nassar matter, the lack of attention or concern by the management of the Indianapolis office is stunning. Crimes against children are supposed to be an FBI investigative priority. A decades-long undercover operation code-named “Innocence Images” focuses on crimes involving the sexual exploitation of minors. Interstate travel for purposes of sex with a minor is a federal crime,1 as any FBI Special Agent should know.

			The IG specifically cited the FBI Indianapolis interview of a gymnast on September 2, 2015, in which she alleged sexual assault by Nassar. That interview wasn’t documented until February 2017. There’s a long-standing Bureau rule—the five-day rule—and every agent knows it: The results of an interview must be memorialized on form FD-302 within five days.

			Both a Supervisory Special Agent (SSA) and the Special Agent in Charge (SAC) were cited for their “false statements” in the Nassar case—or what most people would call lies. The IG reported that the victim interview summary, which the SSA drafted seventeen months after the interview, contained materially false statements and omitted material information. The IG also charged that when questioned, the same SSA twice made manifestly false statements to the IG’s team. In addition, the IG found that the SAC made materially false statements about the Indianapolis investigation during his interview with the IG team, and then he twice falsely denied specific contacts with the US Olympic Committee when asked by the IG’s team.

			Perhaps most tragic of all was the IG’s assertion that at least seventy more athletes were subject to abuse in the time that elapsed before Nassar’s arrest by state authorities, while Nassar’s victims had claimed the number abused in that period was 120 young women and children. IG Horowitz concluded that in the Nassar case, “Numerous FBI policies were violated.”

			The rules were there, but the problem was with the attitude and culture.

			The harshly critical July 14, 2021 IG report on the FBI’s handling of the Nassar case quickly led to media coverage of the abuse suffered by the gymnasts and others. Some of the victims spoke out publicly about what they had suffered. This led, in turn, to the inevitable congressional hearings.

			The Senate Judiciary Committee held a public hearing on Wednesday, September 15, 2021. Current and former gymnasts testified about the abuse they endured from Nassar, under the guise of medical treatment, when they were girls. The televised hearing was highly emotional. The gymnast who first reported Nassar’s crimes to the FBI testified that “this conduct by these FBI agents…who are expected to protect the public is unacceptable, disgusting, and shameful.” FBI Director Christopher A. Wray had the admittedly difficult task of testifying at the same hearing. The initial bungling of the Nassar case had occurred under the troubled tenure of his predecessor, James Comey—but it was his mess to clean-up now. The Indianapolis SSA, cited in the IG report for mishandling and ignoring the complaint against Nassar, was fired just days before the Senate Committee hearing.

			Lawyers for the victims took their shots, calling the SSA’s firing “long overdue,” but questioned the timing of the Senate hearing. Senators joined in: Speaking directly to Wray, Richard Blumenthal of Connecticut, for example, mused, “Someone perhaps more cynical than I would conclude it was this hearing here staring the FBI in the face that prompted that action.”

			Wray was clearly on the spot, as his testimony had followed the young victims’ gut-wrenching accounts. Accordingly, he began appropriately enough by apologizing to them. Two of the offending agents no longer worked at the FBI, he stated, and they were “not representative” of the Bureau’s work. He offered variations of “the bad apples are gone” theme numerous times in response to Senators’ questions. Most of the Senate hearing—lasting four hours—was broadcast on national television. It was watched with rapt attention by a huge audience, including me and many other concerned former agents. It was becoming clear to many of us that what was ailing the FBI couldn’t be solved by a few more firings.

			The culture itself had to change.

			On Thursday, September 16, 2021, the day after Wray’s hours-long Senate testimony, the Former Agents Society had a luncheon meeting at The Springfield Golf & Country Club in suburban Virginia. FBI Director Wray was the luncheon speaker and guest of honor. Most everyone of the nearly a hundred attendees had watched the previous day’s testimony on television. We were anticipating a readout from Wray in our closed-door gathering. Disappointingly, he made no mention of it and gave a fairly standard speech, one he could have given at any time to the Rotary or the Elks Club. The elephant was in the room yet he managed not to acknowledge it. He did, however, repeat the buzzwords bequeathed by Mueller: The FBI was now an “intelligence-driven” organization.

			Standing among other former agents, just outside the country club’s door, watching the black Chevy Suburbans with the director’s entourage pull away, there was a definite sense of disappointment. One guy said he didn’t know what he was going to tell his neighbor, who was always asking him for further explanation of the Bureau’s misdeeds. Another wondered what he could possibly tell his wife, who was waiting at home, anxious to hear what the director had said.

			Except Wray hadn’t said anything about the topic du jour.

			Later, on Saturday, October 23, 2021, the FBI Deputy Director, Paul Abbate, speaking to an audience of several hundred people at the Former Agents Society national conference in Scottsdale, Arizona, was more forthcoming. Many in the audience were angered by the behavior of the two agents cited in the IG report regarding the gymnasts’ complaints. Paul Abbate explained that only one of them was fired because the other had “beat the clock” by taking retirement before administrative action could be taken against him. Abbate maintained that had the other agent remained in the Bureau, he too would have been fired. As Abbate continued fielding numerous impassioned questions, he expressed his own utter puzzlement at why these two failed to respond to the gymnasts’ complaints. Once again, “rotten apples” were expunged from the Bureau, but there was still no examination of why these rotten apples kept surfacing from the bottom of the barrel.

			On July 20, 2021, the IG issued a summary of misconduct by “a former senior FBI official” who had numerous unauthorized contacts with the media leading up to the November 2016 election. That report referenced an earlier May 29, 2019 finding of misconduct (again, it involved unauthorized contact with the media) on the part of a deputy assistant director. The case touched on both the Clinton email scandal and the Trump Russian collusion narrative. These two reports cited a half dozen other FBI officials for similar misconduct. It expressed deep concern about a permissive cultural attitude within the FBI.

			On July 22, 2021, the IG reported findings of misconduct by FBI Assistant Director in Charge of Congressional Affairs, Jill C. Tyson. The FBI’s Inspection Division had referred the matter to the IG after receiving information alleging she was engaged in an inappropriate relationship with a subordinate. The IG’s investigation found that she did have a sexual liaison with a subordinate, and that the affair disrupted the workplace by interfering with the ability of other FBI employees to complete their work. The IG also specifically discovered that Tyson made hiring and organizational decisions involving the subordinate.

			On Monday, August 2, 2021, the IG reported on yet another investigation of a special agent who had had an inappropriate relationship with a support employee. During the investigation, the IG learned that Special Agents (SAs) sometimes used photographs of young female support staff to pose as minor children or sex workers to entice sexual predators on various social media websites. The SA in question was found to have asked the support staff employee to “provide him with provocative pictures of herself for an online UCO (undercover operation).” The SA said he was just “fishing” on social media sites and was not recording which sites he visited. He and his Supervisory SA were unable to furnish the IG with any documentation of how the photographs were obtained or used. The IG criticized this casual use of support staff as online sexual bait and expressed concern that the images could still float around on the web, potentially placing those employees in danger. The IG also specifically noted that these practices conflicted with the Attorney General’s Guidelines for FBI Undercover Operations.

			On August 3, 2021, the special agent, who was the public face of the investigation of the alleged kidnapping plot of Michigan Governor Gretchen Whitmer, was charged by local authorities in Kalamazoo, Michigan with one count of “assault with intent to do great bodily harm.” He was accused of assaulting his wife by banging her head against a nightstand and choking her. They were fighting after their attendance at a swingers’ party earlier that same evening. According to the charging documents, when police arrived on the scene, the agent’s wife had bloody lacerations on the right side of her head and “blood all over her chest, clothing, arms, and hand,” as well as “severe” bruising to her neck and throat. She told police her husband had gotten on top of her, grabbed the sides of her head, and smashed it into a nearby nightstand numerous times. She tried to grab his beard to get him off her when he started to choke her. She then grabbed the agent’s testicles, which ended the fight.

			This same agent, in an echo of practices that came to light in the Russian collusion fiasco, also used his official phone to unleash diatribes against the former president and his supporters, calling Trump a “piece of shit” and far worse. He showed incredibly bad judgment with his obscenity-laced online tirade. Lessons from the earlier mess were either not learned, or worse yet, not taught.

			To add to his sins, the agent was working as trainer in a gym, specializing as a CrossFit coach. In the past it would be unheard of for an agent to be allowed to work a second job. It still is, as it should be, since agents are on call at all times. But under the current permissive culture, rules seem to be flouted.

			The wifebeater agent was deeply involved in all aspects of investigation of the Governor Whitmer kidnapping plot. He testified in federal court at the preliminary hearing in the case, signed off on the criminal complaint, was the affiant for multiple search warrants, and was involved in numerous interviews. In September 2021, he was dismissed from the Bureau.

			In the local Kalamazoo court, the former agent entered into a plea agreement for the assault on his wife. At his December 20, 2021 sentencing, his wife—the victim—spoke in his defense and said she forgave him. Perhaps another sad example of the “battered-wife” syndrome. The obviously frustrated prosecutors said they had to agree to the plea because his wife refused to cooperate in the case against the agent. He pleaded no contest and was sentenced to two days of time already served, plus court fines and fees.

			But this wifebeater was not the only problem agent on the case, nor the only problem with the Whitmer case itself.

			A second agent, who was deeply involved in running an informant central to the kidnapping conspiracy, had also become a problem. He had incorporated a private security firm as an LLC in New Mexico and spent much of 2019 bragging online about his FBI terrorism cases in order to attract clients to his business. Named “Exeintel,” it chased million-dollar contracts promising potential clients that it could identify terrorist threats to their businesses. The Twitter account—@ravagiing, identified as belonging to Exeintel’s CEO and linked to the company’s website—had previously posted comments tied to the agent’s ongoing terrorism investigations even before the cases went public.

			In January 2019, the second agent’s Twitter account featured a post about a group of Somalis who were being investigated for providing material support for terrorists, specifically ISIS. In a post just days after the men’s arrests, the claim was made that Exeintel “had been tracking this group since last year” and crowed that “agents handling this case are INCREDIBLE!” The tweets on the case gave away more, including screenshots of encrypted messages from the prior October, which included the name of one of the suspects. A link to the Facebook page of the suspect’s cousin had been sent as well.

			Even more problematic, two weeks before the raids and arrests, on September 24, 2020, this second agent tweeted: “Soon….MICHIGAN Soon.” Then on October 7, 2020, just hours before the arrests @ravagiing tweeted: “Don’t worry Michigan I told ya A LOT more coming soon.”

			In this crucial Michigan case, two of the key agents were engaged in outside employment, and one of them owned and operated a business that presented a clear conflict of interest. All of this is clearly prohibited by Bureau rules—and manifestly ignored in the current culture.

			And then a third key agent in the Michigan kidnapping conspiracy appeared tainted. The agent had testified in some preliminary hearings and was identified as one of the handlers of a key informant in the case. Then it came out that he had been accused of perjury in a previous case. That past allegation had never been resolved. On Friday, December 17, 2021, federal prosecutors advised the court that none of the three agents in question would be used at trial.

			The FBI investigation of the alleged plot to kidnap Governor Whitmer has itself become problematic. The defense of entrapment was being bantered about. In the aftermath of the Bureau’s famous ABSCAM cases of the early 80s, guidelines were put in place—and strictly followed—that eliminated entrapment as a viable defense. Basically, there is no entrapment if the government can show the defendant was predisposed towards the crime. Agents were cautioned and trained not to cross over that line of enticing someone who was “not otherwise disposed” to committing the crime. What has been disclosed in this matter certainly raises the possibility that one or more informants went too far in shaping the events of the conspiracy.

			Defense attorneys in Michigan then asked the court to allow hundreds of passages from government recordings to be introduced—apparently to bolster an entrapment defense. Many of the quotes suggest the defendants were uneasy with the idea of kidnapping, and even confused about the goal. The second agent to be removed from the case is quoted in a text to his informant, just a week before he led a surveillance of the governor’s residence: “Mission is to kill the governor specifically.”

			In the aftermath of ABSCAM, we believed entrapment had become a non-issue. Maybe not.

			There were only four defendants facing federal charges in the alleged plot, and it is widely reported that there were as many as twelve FBI informants and two undercover agents (UCAs) among the alleged plotters.

			The whole thing reminds me of the joke—or the criticism from some quarters—about the FBI and the Communist Party (CPUSA) during the 1950s. The Bureau had so many informants in the CPUSA they were the majority of members at the meetings of each cell. The not-so-funny joke was it was only the dues of the government-paid informants that kept the party going.

			What is also not so funny is that the alleged kidnapping plot was weaponized by Democrats in the 2020 presidential election. Nor is it funny in our democracy that a couple of ultimately acquitted defendants endured eighteen months imprisonment.

			Later, in April 2022, the trial of the alleged kidnapping plot ended with zero convictions. The defense of entrapment was discussed for the first time in years with a degree of credibility. Disclosures in the Michigan case likely convinced jurors that informants and undercover agents helped shape the conspiracy.

			On August 4, 2021, in another matter, the IG released a summary report of misconduct by “a former FBI Unit Chief,” who had failed to repay a $25,000 loan from a financial institution and then failed to report the debt—as well as other financial delinquencies—to the FBI. The unit chief then pressured a subordinate to loan him $12,000—and again refused to repay. Among other findings, the IG cited the misuse of the subordinate’s time and the unit chief’s “lack of candor,” which others might just call lying. The unit chief—a headquarters-level manager—resigned while under investigation. Another rotten apple out the door.

			But why did he think he could get away with this kind of behavior?

			On Tuesday, August 16, 2021, a special agent assigned to the New Orleans field office pleaded not guilty to several counts of sex crimes against children, including, “aggravated crimes against nature and indecent behavior with a juvenile.” His most recent FBI duties included investigating child pornography and other crimes against children.

			Arrested in Louisiana in June, a judge ordered him held without bond in Ascension Parish where he harmed two victims under the age of seventeen. The judge also declared the agent “a threat to the public at large.” He faces similar charges in East Baton Rouge and Orleans parishes in Louisiana. An investigation of his conduct is pending in Florida. In Tyler, Texas, a warrant charges that he repeatedly exposed himself to teenaged girls and sent inappropriate text messages, which documented his depravity. Although not as searing as his offenses against young girls, the misuse of his government cell phone to document his predatory behavior has an echo of other recent instances of cultural rot.

			On Saturday, August 13, 2021, a special agent assigned to the Louisville Kentucky field office turned himself in at the Woodford County Jail. Two days earlier, a local judge had signed off on an arrest warrant, which charged the agent with “assault-domestic violence and strangulation.” He was released on a $5,000 bond. Earlier, on July 9, 2021, an emergency protective order was issued against him, and he had to surrender his firearms.

			On Monday, August 23, 2021, in a separate incident, the Assistant Agent in Charge (ASAC) of the New Orleans Division was arrested at her home and accused of domestic violence. Deputies from the St. Tammany Parish Sheriff’s office went to the home in response to the agent’s wife’s pleas for help. They found the ASAC had beaten her wife. They then arrested the ASAC for domestic abuse and battery. The accused agent had spent almost her entire career in intelligence work and was the second-highest ranking agent in the New Orleans field office.

			Lastly, on August 27, 2021, a former section chief, previously assigned to the FBI Laboratory Division in Quantico, Virginia, was arrested following a criminal complaint charging him with theft of government property. According to the complaint, he falsely certified in the FBI’s time and attendance system that he worked approximately 876 hours that he had not worked. The investigation of this fraud was conducted by the IG’s team. A headquarters section chief could be characterized as a high-ranking executive. As with the case of two of the problem agents in the Michigan case, this section chief was apparently distracted by his ownership and operation of an outside business. In this case, it was the Perigeaux Vineyard in St. Leonard, Maryland, a winery.

			All these foregoing incidents were reported over just a few weeks in the summer of 2021. They demonstrate the deep and profound rot in FBI culture. Sexual affairs disrupting the workplace and supervisors pressuring subordinates for money. Senator Marsha Blackburn’s declaration on May 1, 2019, about an “unhealthy work culture” at Bureau headquarters was prescient.

			But firing a few miscreants is obviously not enough. Mueller’s change in culture away from a “swear to tell the truth” law enforcement agency is at the root of the problem. To appreciate how far the FBI has fallen, we must see how great it once was.
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Chapter Two

			And So, It Began

			In choosing to enter law enforcement, I shared the same ideas as others who enter the field and, for that matter, much of the public. I believed justice was even-handed, that those accused were guilty, and that everyone in jail deserved to be there.

			I assumed my idealism was shared throughout law enforcement.

			That last point was the first to change. I very quickly learned cynicism was widespread, and not everyone in law enforcement wanted to do the right thing.

			In my last semester at Fordham University, I had decided on two things going forward. The first was I would marry my love, Anne. The second was I would join the New York Police Department (NYPD), which was then starting to professionalize by recruiting college graduates. Happily, I achieved the more important of those two goals, but the other was a different story. One evening during my final spring in college, I stopped in the local tavern for a beer before going home. In those years, it was legal to drink at age eighteen in New York, and so we did. A young man, perhaps five or six years older than me, was at the other end of the bar. I only vaguely knew Eddie Murphy, but I knew he was a cop.

			Engaging him in conversation, I wanted to gain any insights I could and share the news of my plans to start at the police academy that September. As we chatted, it became obvious Eddie was an extreme cynic. He believed everything was “fixed” and everyone was “on the take.” And he wanted part of the action. He specifically said the only place to “make a buck” for someone like him was in plainclothes.2 That was his goal. He thought I was crazy to want to join the NYPD. He told me with a college degree, I could work for the FBI for a year or two and then go on to become an agent.

			Since then, I have learned an occupational danger for any type of law enforcement is cynicism: believing everything and everybody is evil, rotten, or corrupt. I met many in law enforcement who had soured. But none as badly as Eddie Murphy.

			Although I was shaken by Eddie’s deep cynicism and frank espousal of corruption as a career path, I took his suggestion about the FBI seriously. The very next morning, I took the subway to its New York office on East 69th Street, walked up to a reception desk, and obtained an employment application. And so, it began.

			By 1967, I was working in the FBI Photo Laboratory on 69th Street, waiting to begin new agents’ training at the FBI Academy in Quantico, Virginia. Anne and I had been blessed in February with the birth of our first child, Thomas. In a division of labor that continues today in our marriage, Anne was handling all the medical bills and related health insurance claims. She also frequently signed my signature to expedite matters. At the time we had a disputed bill from the hospital, and Anne, not wanting to bother me with any details, had been handling all the correspondence.

			About that same time in 1967, Richard J. Baker arrived in the FBI’s New York office, known then and now as the NYO. He was a new SAC (Special Agent in Charge). His position was a rather big deal, and it commanded a great deal of respect. On one of his first days in the office, after finding suitable housing, his secretary arranged a series of phone calls with utility companies for telephone service, and so on. As he was taking these calls, another came in from a collection agency. They asked to speak to “Mr. Baker,” and the switchboard put the call through to that Mr. Baker, the newly arrived SAC. A minute or so into the call with the bill collector, he startled his secretary by booming “Baby Boy Baker!?!”

			Mere moments later, the new SAC was standing beside me in the Photo Laboratory. In an office as large as New York, this is not an everyday event. He asked, “Is everything all right?” He seemed genuinely concerned. I, on the other hand, was terrified. Discipline was draconian in that era’s FBI, and a clear credit report was a minimum requirement for employment. Causing a Bureau executive concern was also something to be avoided at all costs. I repeatedly assured “Mr. Baker” we would pay all our bills. I visualized my burgeoning career as an agent ending before it began—all because of some errant hospital bill from my son’s birth. I immediately called Anne and pleaded my case: “Pay the bill. Just please pay the bill.”

			I would meet SAC Richard J. Baker again.





Chapter Three

			Mistakes Made, Lessons Learned

			Despite the close call of the baby boy Baker billing incident, I was accepted for new agents’ training. In the fall of 1967, I reported to FBI Headquarters, then housed in the block-long Justice building on Pennsylvania Avenue in Washington DC. The brutalist-styled building named for J. Edgar Hoover was years away from completion, as was the “new” FBI Academy on the Marine base in Quantico, Virginia. So, unlike today’s agent trainees, who spend months of training at the self-contained academy in Quantico, our one classroom was in the Justice building. We lived in boarding houses on Capitol Hill. Our only visits to Quantico were for firearms training a few days at a time.

			Young and idealistic, I was not at all intimidated when entering the massive Justice building through its twenty-foot tall, art-deco metal doors. I was excited. Our fifth-floor classroom had quite a history. In July 1942, it was used by the military tribunal that tried eight Nazi saboteurs. The 1959 Jimmy Stewart movie, The FBI Story, even filmed several scenes there. I met Mr. Stewart when he was a guest at the FBI’s 75th anniversary gala. At a pre-dinner reception, when the movie was mentioned, Stewart broke into a rather physical demonstration of how he learned to shoot the famous Thompson submachine gun for the film. Taking in the very tall and slim Stewart, with that utterly unique, hesitant catch in his voice was like watching someone do a Jimmy Stewart impression.

			In that historic classroom we received weeks of lectures on the US Constitution, particularly its first ten amendments, the Bill of Rights. The instructors were outstanding agent attorneys who conveyed to us their reverence for that document. Unlike many of my classmates, who were recent law school graduates, I had not previously heard all this in detail, and I soaked it up like a sponge. My attorney classmates surprised me when they commented that these lectures were far better than anything they had heard in law school.

			The Bill of Rights, particularly the Fourth, Fifth, and Sixth Amendments were not presented as obstacles we had to overcome, but as something we should embrace and cherish. One legal instructor gave each of us a pocket copy of the Constitution. There was a genuine emphasis on the FBI’s role—and our responsibility as agents—in protecting Americans’ civil rights. These lessons would come flooding back during the ugliness of “Crossfire Hurricane.”

			During the final stages of training in that era, new agents went to the Bureau’s Washington field office to be paired off with an experienced agent for a week of on-the-job-training. By that point we had been sworn in, issued our sidearm, and suitably trained not only with firearms but in defensive tactics and arrest techniques as well.

			I was fortunate to be paired with Laurence Edwin Danbom. He’d been in the Bureau for over twenty years and was a quarter-century older than me. Larry Danbom seemed like a giant of a man, over six feet tall with shoulders much wider than mine. He had been an All-American fullback at Notre Dame. He was also very smart, having graduated with academic honors. He was well known in the nation’s capital. Walking with him on L or K Street, we paused several times as he chatted with impressive-looking men in well-tailored suits. One was Edward Bennet Williams, then the president and part owner of the Washington Redskins. Danbom introduced me, as he and Williams swapped inside football gossip. Nearly a quarter-century later, Williams again briefly crossed my path when his law firm defended John W. Hinckley, Jr., the would-be assassin of President Ronald Reagan.
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			Jimmy Stewart, the star of the film The FBI Story, at the FBI’s 75th anniversary celebration, broke into an explanation of firing the famous Thompson submachine gun. His familiar halting delivery, with the signature catch in his voice, reminded us of someone doing a Jimmy Stewart impersonation.

			J. Edgar Hoover was still the FBI boss, and the Bureau was bound by his many rules, some of which, even then, we thought ridiculous. For example, agents were prohibited from drinking coffee while working. In DC, Hoover actually sent inspectors out to hunt down coffee drinkers. Human nature being what it is, this made stopping for coffee almost a daily test of manhood. On the first morning with Larry Danbom, we stopped at the National Shrine of the Immaculate Conception in Northwest Washington. I had no idea why—initially the grizzled veteran was not wasting words or explanations on this new kid. We started walking up the main steps into the sanctuary. I thought this odd, since Danbom, despite being a Notre Dame graduate, was not Catholic. Once in the vestibule, however, he made a sharp turn, with me following in his wake, and headed down the stairs.

			We entered a large public cafeteria, and I joined him in the food line. This was a test. And it wasn’t just coffee, it was a formidable breakfast: generous heaps of eggs, sausage, bacon, and toast. Larry Danbom was a big man. We took our trays to a table and sat down facing each other. He started talking; I had passed the test. Looking over his shoulder, I spotted someone entering and warned sotto voce:

			“I see a guy coming in who looks like an inspector.”

			Without looking up, Danbom replied, “Real tall, black hair?”

			“Yeah,” I responded.

			“That’s Dick Marquise.”

			Richard T. Marquise was Larry’s friend and fellow agent. Years later, I would work with a much younger and somewhat shorter Dick Marquise, who ran the investigation of the Pan Am Flight 103 bombing over Lockerbie, Scotland. One of many father-son pairings in the Bureau. Today there are father-daughter pairings as well. Listening to those two FBI veterans was a great experience. As Yogi Berra might have said, you can learn a lot by just listening.

			It wasn’t all just listening, either. There was a lot of action in the district. Bank robberies were a daily occurrence. When the call went out over the Bureau radio that a bank robbery had happened or—better yet—was in progress, agents within a reasonable distance were expected to respond. And we did. Arriving at the scene with police sirens blaring was exciting for us new agents. We were also impressed to see the senior agents collaborate and manage the crime scene. They knew what to do and quickly went about their business.

			The Federal Credit Union at St. Elizabeth’s Hospital was robbed the week I was with Larry Danbom. St. Elizabeth’s is not a stand-alone hospital. It’s more like a small town: numerous buildings on what was a 300-acre campus, with nearly 8,000 patients and 4,000 employees. It later obtained notoriety as the place where John Hinckley was confined. It’s a psychiatric facility.

			Larry and I quickly arrived at the scene of the robbery on St. Elizabeth’s campus. I spotted many of my fellow new agent classmates arriving with their more experienced partners. The more senior agents took on the “inside” work, processing the crime scene and interviewing the tellers and other key witnesses. We were sent off to canvass for witnesses who might have seen anything of value. Despite our youthful enthusiasm, we already realized this was often a fruitless undertaking.

			I was on a gently descending road that curved under a stone archway. As I rounded a corner, I encountered a thin middle-aged man, leisurely washing a car with a sponge. I displayed my credentials, informing him the bank up the road had been robbed. I asked if he’d noticed anyone suspicious, and he replied he had indeed. This might be good, I thought to myself. I started writing in my notebook. He went on to say the man he saw was wearing a mask, had a pistol in one hand, and a money sack in the other. This was almost too good to be true. I had an eyewitness!

			“When did you see this man?” I asked.

			“Just now,” he responded.

			“How long have you been here?”

			In a calm and reasonable tone, he replied, “Oh, about 150 years.”

			And then, “Napoleon put me here.”

			Several of my classmates had similar experiences that day. “St. E’s” was, after all, a mental health facility. In the coming years, I would encounter others who appeared reasonable but then said bizarre stuff.

			Moving South

			At the completion of agent training in February 1968, along with several of my classmates, I was transferred to Jacksonville, Florida. Anne and I were excited about Florida and striking out on our own as a young couple. The truth was, we would have been happy going anywhere. Bureau policy was for agents to remain only a year in the first field assignment. It was meant to be a time of learning and growth. Departing after a year gave the maturing agent an opportunity to leave behind any mistakes made. And we made plenty.

			There was a general template for an agent’s first year. You’d work with a senior agent for a few weeks, somewhat like the one-week experience in the Washington Field Office. Before the year’s end, certain items had to be checked off: testifying in federal district court, presenting cases to an assistant US attorney, presenting a case to a federal grand jury, and developing at least one criminal informant. You were also expected to help the senior agents on their major cases, e.g. bank robberies, kidnappings, and extortions. We did so with great enthusiasm.

			Every morning, we had new cases waiting in our inbox. Soon we all accumulated a caseload, which included a variety of criminal investigations, many of them minor offenses. We often worked in pairs, particularly when there was the possibility of arrests or other dangerous situations. But some days I was alone, interviewing complainants, victims, or possible witnesses. I often knocked on doors to ask neighbors about a fugitive or possible suspect.

			Among my new cases was an impersonation complaint. A woman living in a bungalow at Jacksonville Beach had phoned in. She said, “a kid” had been to her home the previous day pretending to be an FBI agent. He showed her something stamped “FBI” and “seemed really nosey,” but she couldn’t recall his name. I, however, recognized her name. I had visited her because her neighbor might have been the girlfriend of a fugitive. I was “the kid!” I wondered if another agent was pulling a gag, but nobody knew I had contacted her. I was young and I knew I looked young, but this was embarrassing. I kept this one to myself and closed the “impersonation” case administratively. Fortunately, that was something I had already learned.

			Among the miscellany of criminal offenses were cases of con men defrauding senior citizens. There were—and still are—numerous variations on social security frauds. One suspect was victimizing seniors throughout the southeastern states. I was assigned a lead to interview “Captain” Kelsey, one of the victims. Kelsey had worked on the tugboats in the port of Jacksonville most of his life, hence the honorific “Captain.”

			His home was on the northwest edge of Jacksonville. By the time I reached it the street paving had disappeared, and I was driving on hard-packed red clay. The large wooden house—three stories tall—looked freshly painted and had a wraparound porch. There were several cars—some very old, some brand new—parked helter-skelter around the front of the house. As I got out of my vehicle and walked toward the door, I noticed a few clusters of Black people on the porch. They looked like they were dressed for Sunday church.

			I climbed the stairs to the porch, and as I approached, the front door opened and a woman, neatly dressed in a black dress, stepped towards me.

			“Can I help you?” she asked.

			“Yes,” I responded. “I’m here to see Captain Kelsey.”

			“I’m his daughter,” she said turning. “Follow me.”

			The large room was full of similarly dressed people. I was the only white person. In the center of the room was Captain Kelsey—in his casket. What could I do? I stepped forward and stood beside the coffin, looking down on him and, as is my custom, said a prayer for his soul. After a decent minute or two, I turned and left, telling his daughter on the way out I was sorry for her loss. Some leads never get covered.

			Police Relations

			By the fall of 1968, I had established law enforcement contacts and made some friends in the counties surrounding Jacksonville. One was the remarkable John Henry Whitehead, sheriff of Union County. When I came into his very rural patch, he was already a long-serving sheriff; he served thirty-three years by the end of his career. Whitehead was a gentleman, well versed in all manner of human frailties. A Navy combat veteran of World War II, he looked and spoke like a lawman, commanding respect but not fear. He knew his county like the back of his hand, as well as most of its residents. Most importantly, to this first-year FBI agent, he was more than willing to help when I had a lead to “locate and interview” one of the denizens of Union County. Today, Union County still has a Sheriff Whitehead: Brad, John’s grandson.

			My boyhood friend, Claude Dubos, was now a New York City police officer and an avid hunter. He came to visit us in Florida and perhaps do some whitetail deer hunting. When Sheriff Whitehead heard of Claude’s visit, he invited us to join a hunt at his ranch. I soon learned his hunts were rather renowned, and that it was an honor to be invited.

			Claude and I showed up in the pre-dawn darkness at the agreed upon crossroad. Whitehead was there with a pickup truck full of braying hounds. Dogs were used to hunt deer in Florida, something unknown to us New York nimrods. About four policemen from Jacksonville were also guests of the sheriff. An additional two or three men, clearly under his command—ranch hands, deputies, maybe both—were tending to the truck and the hounds.

			Introductions had not yet been made in the dim light. But enough was said—it didn’t take much—for all to know that Claude and I “weren’t from ’round these parts.” Sheriff Whitehead was barking orders, it was his show, and he was in charge. He instructed where to take the hounds and when to release them. One of the dog handlers said he’d drive the hounds in the truck.

			Whitehead quickly responded, “No, you won’t. You walk ’em over,” he ordered. “Dawgs are like policemen,” he continued. “Once you start letting ‘em ride around, they’ll never get out and work again.”

			I chuckled. Claude laughed out loud. Even in the dim dawn, we could see these Jacksonville cops looking daggers at us. Later that day, once they learned Claude was a cop, they warmed up. Laughter about cops was tolerated—from another cop. By that point, we were enjoying an informal but generous lunch at the ranch.

			The sheriff’s rustic ranch was on the top of a small hill—there aren’t any big hills in Florida. We gathered around picnic tables and barbecue pits. Only a few yards from the tables was an enclosure of tall flat boards strung together with wire. Inside the enclosure was a black bear. A really big bear.

			Claude and I were fascinated by the bear; the others had seen it before. They handed us sugarcane, cut into one-or two-foot stalks. We each—tentatively at first—held our breath and pushed the sugarcane stalks through the inches-wide openings in the boards. Before long, we were shoving the sugarcane directly into the bear’s mouth. He was now standing on his hind legs, front paws braced on the boards. We were eye to eye. The bear munched ravenously on the sugarcane, a frothy white foam running from his mouth and dripping off his chin.

			The fur on the bear’s body flowed in a pattern that left a tiny bald spot in the center of his chest. Whitehead said, “Oh he loves it when you pet him there.” We looked at him. He encouraged us, “I swear, he’ll lie down and purr like a kitten.” Claude took a breath, reached between the wooden slats, and touched the spot.

			The bear let out a mighty roar, slamming its massive body into the rickety wood, causing the whole enclosure to shake. Claude and I leapt back in terror. We likely screamed as well. Our “audience” howled with laughter. Some were rolling on the grass convulsed in fits. Although no deer were taken that day, the others agreed it was more than worth it just for that moment. We were not so sure.

			An Assassination and a Lesson

			On April 4, 1968, Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. was murdered in Memphis, Tennessee. Reaction across the nation was immediate and widespread. The FBI launched a massive investigation to identify and apprehend the killer. While that ultimately successful effort was underway, Alfred Daniel “A.D.” Williams King, the slain leader’s only brother, was in Jacksonville organizing a mourners’ march, which was to start at the Civic Auditorium.

			It was three days after King’s death when the march got underway. Twenty-five hundred people is a big crowd anywhere, but a march this size was a real challenge for this Florida town. Riots had broken out in other American cities, and major unrest had been ongoing for three days in the nation’s capital. Hundreds of buildings were burned, thirteen people were killed, and the violent crowds got close to the White House. The unrest would continue through the next day. Somewhat understandably, national leadership wanted all demonstrations covered. The Jacksonville field office sent all the agents assigned to civil rights and internal security to “monitor” the huge gathering.

			Were they there to protect the demonstrators, watch out for civil rights violations, or gather intelligence? The FBI’s role was not clear. The Attorney General Guidelines were still years away.

			On the march day, we learned the Ku Klux Klan would be staging a counterdemonstration. The Klansmen arrived from rural counties in cars and trucks and were staging in vacant lots only a few blocks north of the federal building. Their march towards the civic auditorium would take them right past our building. The few agents still in the office, myself included, were sent onto the street. We were now to “monitor” (whatever that meant) the Klan march.

			There were less than a half dozen of us. We spread out on the street alongside the Federal Building, where some of our Bureau cars were parallel parked. There were not many people on the street, and we were clearly recognizable as FBI in our business suits and ties. Within minutes, the Klansmen arrived. They were not wearing their infamous white robes. Not much of a “march,” just fifty to one hundred guys shuffling along. All men, all ages, many in plaid work shirts and bib overalls, some carrying brown bag lunches and thermoses. I was posted near the end of the street where they would pass last.

			Motion caught my peripheral vision and I turned left to face the commotion. At that very instant, I caught the sight of an agent landing a classic right hook to the jaw of a Klansman. That’s all I saw. I ran towards the scene, twenty to thirty feet away. When I got there, the agent and Klansman were locked together in a bear hug. With the help of a third agent, we yanked them apart and handcuffed the Klansman. His friends were cursing and screaming at us, but none of them moved in to fight us. We hustled the Klansman into the building and up to our office, where we fingerprinted and photographed him. He kept claiming the agent had hit him; we advised him he was being arrested for assaulting a federal officer.

			George McBride, the agent who landed that perfectly executed right, was a lot older than me, everybody was. But McBride was full-head-of-white-hair old and well past retirement age. Yet, I saw him land that punch. He breathlessly gave us a full explanation right there, which I would hear repeated many times right up till it was rendered as testimony in federal district court in that very same building months later.

			McBride explained that he knew this Klansman and the others, as for years he’d covered Nassau County, Florida, which many of these characters called home. As the Klan marchers were parading down the street, one tossed something under a Bureau car parked along the curb, which turned out to be the balled-up brown bag he had used for his lunch. McBride took a step forward and called to the Klansman, by name, “Hey, what did you toss under there?” At that, the Klansman swung a roundhouse right, which our white-haired George claimed he blocked with his left forearm, then classically followed with the right to the jaw.
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